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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This case arises from Timothy Bostic’s death from
mesothelioma, which was allegedly caused by his exposure to
asbestos from a variety of sources, including his alleged use of
joint compound containing asbestos that was manufactured by
Defendant Georgia-Pacific Corporation. CR 25-65. Plaintiffs
brought wrongful death claims and a survival action against
Georgia-Pacific and 47 other entities for negligence, strict
liability, and gross negligence. Id. All of the defendants other
than Georgia-Pacific either settled or were dismissed. Compare
CR 25-65 with CR 159-71.

Trial Court, First Trial: Honorable Judge Sally Montgomery, County Court at Law No.
3 of Dallas County, Texas, first tried this case in 2005. The jury
returned a verdict against Georgia-Pacific and awarded
Plaintiffs $2.4 million in actual damages and $6.2 million in
punitive damages. CR 110-20. Judge Montgomery required the
Plaintiffs to elect between a new trial or remittitur. CR 147.
Plaintiffs elected a new trial. CR 148-49.

Second Trial: During the second trial before Judge Montgomery in May and
June 2006, the jury witnessed one of the Plaintiffs—Timothy
Bostic’s father—collapse in the hallway following his direct
examination; the judge and a juror rendered emergency aid to
him. 9 RR 160-72; 10 RR 4-6. Mr. Bostic died the next day.

Having had no opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Bostic and
given the prejudice likely to arise from this incident, Georgia-
Pacific moved for a mistrial. CR 172-91; 9 RR 162-72; 10 RR
4-27. Judge Montgomery refused to rule on the motion, 10 RR
16-27, 256-302; 11 RR 4-5. Instead, a week later, she instructed
the jury to disregard the Plaintiff’s live testimony in favor of his
testimony from the first trial, 12 RR 12-13; see also 10 RR 16-
28. That testimony, which was read into the record, 12 RR 13-
144, included his statement that he “just wanted to die” because
of his son’s death, 12 RR 58. When Judge Montgomery refused
to rule on the motion for mistrial until after the jury had returned
its verdict, Georgia-Pacific filed a petition for writ of
mandamus. This Court denied the petition. See In re Georgia
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Pacific Corp., No. 05-06-00758-CV, 2006 WL 1753079, at *1
(Tex. App.—Dallas June 2, 2006, orig. proceeding) (mem. op.).

Jury Verdict: The jury found Georgia-Pacific and Knox Glass, a nonparty and
Timothy Bostic’s former employer, negligent and Georgia-
Pacific strictly liable for Timothy Bostic’s injuries and awarded
$7,554,907 in actual damages. CR 198-2 17. The jury found
Georgia-Pacific 75% responsible for the injuries and Knox
Glass 25% responsible. CR 205-06. The jury also found that
Georgia-Pacific was grossly negligent and awarded $6,038,910
in punitive damages. CR 2 14-15; see Tab B.

Motion to Recuse: After the verdict, Georgia-Pacific was permitted to question the
jury and court personnel. 16 RR 12 1-66. Georgia-Pacific then
discovered evidence of questionable conduct by one juror, the
bailiff, and the trial judge that further called the integrity of the
trial into question. See 16 RR 121-66, 218-29, 231-60, 323-33,
336-76. Georgia-Pacific filed a motion to recuse Judge
Montgomery. CR 2 18-29. On July 26, 2006, Judge M. Kent
Sims granted the motion to recuse. CR 334.

Case Transferred: The case was transferred to Judge Russell H. Roden, County
Court at Law No. 1, Dallas County. CR 335. Georgia-Pacific
filed a supplemental motion for mistrial. CR 336-76. In
December 2006, the court granted Georgia-Pacific’s motion for
mistrial and ordered a new trial. CR 439 (Tab C).

New Trial Court ‘s
Disposition: In January 2007, the Honorable D’Metria Benson was sworn in

as the new judge of County Court of Law No. 1. In February
2008, Plaintiffs filed a motion for vacatur of Judge Roden’s
order granting the new trial and for entry ofjudgment. CR 440-
647.

On July 18, 2008, Judge Benson granted Plaintiffs’ motion to
vacate, CR 1222-23 (Tab D), and, on July 23, 2008, signed a
final judgment based on the two-year-old jury verdict from May
2006. CR 1224-29. On October 22,2008, the court rendered its
First Amended Final Judgment, awarding $7,554,907 in
compensatory damages and $4,832,128 in punitive damages
against Georgia-Pacific. SCR 5-9 (Tab A).
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RECORD REFERENCES

The clerk’s record will be referenced by page number, e.g., “CR 1.” The clerk’s
supplemental record will be referenced by page number, e.g., “SCR 1.” The reporter’s record
will be referenced by volume number followed by page number, e.g., “4 RR 16.” Plaintiffs’
exhibits in volumes 20 through 34 of the reporter’s record will be referenced by “PX”
followed by exhibit number, e.g., “PX-1 .“ Defendants’ exhibits in volumes 34 to 37 of the
reporter’s record will be referenced by “DX” followed by exhibit number, e.g., “DX-l.”

The trial court also admitted certain exhibits, labeled “Court Exhibits,” solely for the
trial court’s consideration—i.e., the exhibits were not admitted for consideration by the jury
during deliberations. Plaintiffs’ Court Exhibits will be referenced by “PCX” followed by
exhibit number, e.g., “PCX-l.” Defendant’s Court Exhibits will be referenced by “DCX”
followed by exhibit number, e.g., “DCX-1.”
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ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether there is any evidence that Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound
was the producing or proximate cause of decedent Timothy Bostic’s
mesothelioma.

2. Whether there is any clear and convincing evidence to support the
jury’s finding of gross-negligence against Georgia-Pacific.

3. Alternatively, whether the trial court abused its discretion by refusing
to grant a new trial when Georgia-Pacific was denied its constitutional
right to a fair and impartial jury trial.

xix



INTRODUCTION

Without a doubt, Georgia-Pacific is entitled to a new trial as a result of the prejudicial

events surrounding the second trial in this case: Plaintiff Harold Bostic—the father of the

decedent—collapsed in front of the jury after his emotional direct testimony; the judge and

a sitting juror rendered emergency aid to Mr. Bostic; the judge informed the jury that Mr.

Bostic collapsed as a result of the stress of the trial; Mr. Bostic died without Georgia-Pacific

having the opportunity to cross-examine him; the jury learned from outside sources that Mr.

Bostic had died before they reached a verdict; the bailiff discussed questions from the jury

regarding Mr. Bostic’s health with Plaintiffs’ counsel, but not counsel for Georgia-Pacific;

and the trial judge instructed her staff not to disclose the juror’s questions about Mr. Bostic

to Georgia-Pacific. Georgia-Pacific moved for mistrial, but the trial court was determined

to finish the second trial and render a final judgment—no matter what the consequences to

Georgia-Pacific’s right to a fair trial.

Fortunately, this Court does not need to slough through the events surrounding the

second trial. The Court instead should render ajudgment that Plaintiffs take nothing because

Plaintiffs wholly failed to present any legally sufficient evidence ofcausation to support their

claims against Georgia-Pacific. Instead of proving that exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s

asbestos-containing joint compound was the actual cause ofTimothy Bostic’s mesothelioma,

Plaintiffs relied solely on their experts’ opinions that “each and every exposure” to asbestos

was the cause, hoping that this testimony would relieve them of their obligation of proving

their case against Georgia-Pacific. But Texas law—set forth in Havner, F/ores, and Stephens
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—does not permit such unreliable expert opinions to serve as proof that Georgia-Pacific’s

joint compound caused Timothy Bostic’s mesothelioma. As a result, there is no evidence to

support an essential element of Plaintiffs’ negligence and defective marketing claims against

Georgia Pacific. This Court should reverse and render judgment that Plaintiffs take nothing.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

From his birth in 1961 to some unknown point in his adulthood, Timothy Bostic was

exposed to asbestos from multiple sources. See 7 RR 165-99; 8 RR 15-42; 12 RR 24-93,

109-44; DX-33. As a result of one or more of these exposures, he developed mesothelioma,

11 RR 460, 47-51, 60-61, a relatively rare form of cancer whose only known environmental

cause is asbestos exposure, 4 RR 99; 11 RR 23-25.’ Timothy Bostic was diagnosed with

mesothelioma in 2002 and died in 2003. DX-36; 11 RR 59-69.

A. Timothy Bostic Was Exposed to Asbestos From Multiple Sources
Throughout His Life, Including His and His Father’s Work at the Knox
Glass Plant.

Knox Glass: In all likelihood, the greatest source of Timothy’s exposure to asbestos

came from the Knox Glass Plant in Palestine, Texas.2 Asbestos was used throughout this

bottle plant to insulate against the heat of molten glass. 7 RR 17 1-73; 14 RR 11-81.

Mesothelioma is a “dose-response” disease, meaningthat the risk ofdeveloping the diseaseincreases as the level of exposure to asbestos increases. 4 KR 94-95.

2 Knox Glass. is not a party to this suit. In 1989, Timot1y and Harold Bostic were membersofa class that filed suit against Knox Glass. Roger Dale A ills v. Knox Glass, Inc., Cause No. 34,425,
in the 3rd Judicial District Court of Anderson County, Texas. Tn 1995, long before Timothy was
diagnosed with mesothelioma, both Timothy and Harold received settlements from, and executed
full releases in favor of, Knox Glass. DCX-1. The trial court did not permit Georgia-Pacific to
mention this lawsuit or the settlements received by the Plaintiffs in front ofthe jury. 15 RR 246-301.
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Timothy’s father, Harold Bostic, worked at Knox Glass as a welder from around 1960

until the plant closed in 1984. 12 RR 18, 67-68. Due to the presence of asbestos throughout

the glass plant and his direct contact with asbestos products as a welder, Harold Bostic was

regularly exposed to asbestos fibers, which were inadvertently carried home on his clothing

—thereby exposing Timothy to asbestos fibers from birth. 12 RR 68-73; 7 RR 176-77.

Plaintiffs’ experts testified that secondary exposure to asbestos from Harold Bostic’s work

clothes could have contributed to the development of Timothy’s mesothelioma. 4 RR 182-

83; 10 RR 167-68; 11 RR 48, 105-08.

Timothy himself worked at Knox Glass for three summers between 1980 and 1982,

7 RR 171, where he cut raw asbestos sheets, swept up asbestos-containing dust, cleaned up

after asbestos pipe coverings were repaired, and wore asbestos gloves. 7 RR 17 1-75; 8 RR

2 1-23, 26-35; DX-33.

In 1988, Timothy and Harold participated in a medical study of workers from the

Knox Glass Plant, see DX-42; 8 RR 37-38; 12 RR 63-66. The study revealed that 27% of

those workers had already developed asbestos-related illnesses. 7 RR 57-59. Tests showed

that Timothy and Harold had asbestos fibers in their lungs at that time. DX-42; 12 RR 63-66.

Palestine Contractors: During 1977 and 1978, Timothy also worked as a welder’s

assistant for Palestine Contractors where he was exposed to asbestos gaskets and asbestos

pipe insulation. 7 RR 170-7 1; 8 RR 18-20; DX-33.

Working on Cars and Remodeling: When Timothy was a child, he would often help

his father with home remodeling jobs for family and friends on the weekends. 7 RR 178-85;

3



12 RR 24-93, 109-44. They worked on one job at a time, and each job took approximately

a year to complete. 12 RR 83. As he got older, Timothy began to do remodeling on his own

and to work on cars. 7 RR 185-89; 8 RR 17-18; 12 RR 37, 132-33. As part of these jobs,

Timothy was exposed to a number of asbestos-containing products, including brake pads,

gaskets, floor tiles, and roofing shingles. DX-33; 7 RR 178-89. He also worked with joint

compound manufactured by several companies, including Georgia-Pacific. DX-3 33

B. Georgia Pacific Manufactured and Sold Asbestos-Containing Joint
Compound from 1965 until 1977.

Due to its heat-resistant characteristics, asbestos has been used for centuries and was

widely used in a variety of products in the United States until the 1980s. See 5 RR 63-67;

6 RR 104, 158. It was used for fireproofing Navy ships during World War II, as insulation

in manufacturing plants using high heat processes, and in home construction products and

auto parts, such as ceiling tiles, roofing shingles, insulation, and brake pads. 5 RR 63-67.

During the 1950s and 1960s, asbestos was commonly used in household items such as irons,

burner pads, toasters, and hair dryers. 6 RR 158. Due to this widespread use, there is a

“background” level of asbestos present in the air in most urban areas of the world even today.

See Borg-Warner v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 771 (Tex. 2007).

In 1965, Georgia-Pacific bought a gypsum wallboard manufacturing company called

Bestwall Gypsum Company, which also manufactured a line ofjoint compound products that

Joint compound or drywall mud, is used to smooth earns and pover nail heads on sheetsofdrywall. 8 RR 1 3-5 5. It is sold as either a dry powder that is mixed with water or as a pre-mixed
solution. 8 RR 162-65. Afterjoint compound is prepared, it is spread in a thin coat on the wall and
smoothed with a trowel or putty knife. 8 RR 153-57. After it dries, uneven areas are sanded. Id.
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included a small percentage of chrysotile asbestos fibers as a binding agent. 8 RR l44. The

products were offered in a dry mix formula and as a pre-mixed formula called “Ready Mix.”

8 RR 164-65. The Georgia-Pacific joint compound products at issue in this litigation

contained approximately 2 to 5 percent chrysotile until 1973, when several products began

to be offered in an asbestos-free form. 9 RR 26. Georgia-Pacific did not manufacture or sell

joint compound containing chrysotile after 1977. 9 RR 25. Asbestos continued to be used

in the United States for many years thereafter. 6 RR 196-98.

C. Plaintiffs Sued Georgia-Pacific, Alleging that Timothy Bostic’s Exposure
to Joint Compound Caused His Mesothelioma; After the First Trial,
Plaintiffs Opted for a New Trial Rather Than Accept the Remittitur
Suggested by the Trial Court.

At the time of his diagnosis, Timothy and his doctors believed that his mesothelioma

was caused by his and his father’s employment at the Knox Glass Plant in Palestine, Texas.

DX-36-37. By the time this suit was filed, however, Plaintiffs had identified more than 45

other potential sources of Timothy Bostic’s asbestos exposure, including joint compound

manufactured by Georgia-Pacific and several other companies. CR 25-58. Following

Timothy Bostic’s death, his estate, his father Harold Bostic, his mother Helen Donnahoe, his

wife Susan Bostic, and his son Kyle Bostic filed suit against 47 defendants and Georgia-

“Asbestos” is a commercial term that includes two different families of materials:
serpentine and amphibole fibers. 4 RR 88-89. Georgia-Pacific Joint compound contained a form
ofserpentine asbestos called chrysotile. 10 RR 227-29. Although it is well accepted in the scientific
community that exposure to amphibole asbestos can cause mesothelioma, whether exposure to
chrysotile can cause mesothelioma is still the subject ofheated scientific debate. 4 RR 99-100; 5 RR
95. It is Georgia-Pacific’s position that chrysotile does not cause mesothelioma, but for purposes
of this appeal only, given the number of other inadequacies in the causation evidence, Georgia
Pacific is not challenging the assumption that exposure to chrysotile can cause mesothelioma.
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Pacific for negligence, strict liability, gross negligence, conspiracy, and fraud. CR 25-5 8.

Because Timothy Bostic’s claims against Knox Glass had been settled and released, Knox

Glass was never a defendant in this suit. See DCX-1; 15 RR 246-301. All of the other

defendants eventually settled with Plaintiffs or were dismissed from the suit, leaving

Georgia-Pacific as the lone defendant in the first trial. Compare CR 25-5 8 with CR 159-71.

In March 2005, the jury returned a verdict against Georgia-Pacific, awarding actual

damages of $3,127,000 and punitive damages of $6,200,000. CR 110-20. After considering

Georgia-Pacific’s post-verdict motions, however, Judge Sally Montgomery, County Court

at Law No. 3, required Plaintiffs to elect between a new trial or remittitur. CR 147.

Plaintiffs elected a new trial. CR 148-49.

D. Timothy and Harold Bostic Could Not Recall Whether Timothy Used
Georgia-Pacific’s Chrysotile-Containing Joint Compound on Any
Remodeling Jobs Between 1967 and 1977.

The case went to trial a second time in May and June 2006 before Judge Montgomery.

The only evidence at the second trial that Timothy Bostic worked with or around Georgia-

Pacific’s chrysotile-containing joint compound came from Timothy Bostic’s deposition

testimony and testimony by his father, Harold Bostic. According to the testimony, Timothy

Bostic allegedly worked with Georgia-Pacific, U.S. Gypsum, and Bondex joint compounds

while helping his father on the weekends with remodeling jobs for family and friends

between 1967 (when he was five years old) and 1977 (the year that Georgia-Pacific stopped

manufacturing or selling joint compound containing chrysotile). 12 RR 23-3 9, 77-78; 7 RR
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178-82; 8 RR 17-1 8. Although his deposition testimony reflected that he mixed and sanded

joint compound from the age of five, Timothy did not provide the specifics of any drywall

work that he did with his father before he graduated from high school in 1980. 7 RR 17 1-82;

8 RR 17-18. Timothy testified that he used Georgia-Pacific joint compound on numerous

remodeling jobs after graduating from high school in 1980,7 RR 166; 8 RR 17-18; 12 RR

39, but by that time, Georgia-Pacific no longer manufactured or sold chrysotile-containing

joint compound. 9 RR 25.

Harold Bostic recalled only three instances between 1967 and 1977 when he and his

son possibly did drywall work together. See 12 RR 7 8-93, 109-37. Although Harold testified

that they used Georgia-Pacific joint compound the majority of the time that they did drywall

work, 12 RR 3 3-34, 39, he remembered using Georgia-Pacific joint compound on only one

of these three jobs. On that job, Timothy worked on the sewer; Harold could not recall if

Timothy did any drywall work at all. 12 RR 24, 33-34, 122-25, 136-37; 8 RR 17-18. Harold

asked his friends and family for help in recalling any other remodeling jobs he and his son

did between 1967 and 1977, but neither he nor they could recall any other jobs. 12 RR 143.

E. Plaintiffs’ Causation Experts Simply Opined That “Each and Every”
Exposure to Asbestos Contributed to the Development of Timothy
Bostic’s Mesothelioma.

Plaintiffs presented four expert witnesses on causation at the second trial: Richard

Lemen, Ph.D., an epidemiologist who testified regarding general causation and state of the

In addition in his sworn Work History Sheets Timothy Bostic identified having worked
“with” and “around” Durabond, Gold Bond, Paco, and 11intkote joint compounds. DX-33.
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art knowledge, 5 RR 8-9; see also 6 RR 66-67 (not testifying regarding specific causation);

Arnold Brody, M.D., a cell biologist and experimental pathologist who testified on general

causation, 4 RR 80-81; see also id. (not testifying on specific causation); Samuel Hammar

M.D., a pathologist who testified on specific causation and Timothy Bostic’s diagnosis of

mesothelioma, 11 RR 6-12, 45-48; and William Longo, Ph.D.,6 an electron microscopist and

material scientist testifying on how asbestos exposure occurs and the results of his testing of

Bestwall/Georgia-Pacific joint compound, 10 RR 35-36; see also 10 RR 115 (not testifying

on “who used what and when” or causation).

Dr. Hammar, the only expert who testified regarding the specific causation ofTimothy

Bostic’s mesothelioma, testified that “each and every” exposure to friable asbestos fibers

above background levels “had the potential to contribute to” the development of Timothy’s

mesothelioma—regardless of the source of the exposure. See 11 RR 38-39, 48-5 1. When

asked whether any of Timothy’s exposures to asbestos could be excluded as a cause of his

mesothelioma, Dr. Hammar said “no.” 11 RR 51, 106-11, 145-46, 151-52. And when asked

if he could opine that, without any exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile-containing joint

compound, Timothy would not have developed mesothelioma, Dr. Hammar again said “no.”

11 RR 139. Plaintiffs’ other three experts expressly disclaimed any ability to offer opinions

on the cause of Timothy’s mesothelioma. 4 RR 80-81; 5 RR 31; 10 RR 91-92, 106-07, 115.

6Although Dr. LongQ admitted, outside the presence of hejury, that he was engaged to
Leanne Jackson, one of PFaintiffs’ attorneys and a shareholder in Baron & Budd, the trialcourt
refused to permit Georgia-Pacific’s counsel to cross-examine Dr. Longo regarding his relationship
with Ms. Jackson or his potential bias. 10 RR 119-20, 18 1-99.
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F. During the Second Trial, Plaintiff Harold Bostic Collapsed in Front of the
Jury and Died the Next Day; the Jury Learned That He Died and
Returned a Very Large Verdict Against Georgia-Pacific.

During a break following his direct testimony, Plaintiff Harold Bostic collapsed in the

hallway in full view of the jurors. 9 RR 160. Judge Montgomery and one of the jurors—

Courtney Jackson, an emergency medical technician—rendered emergency assistance. 9 RR

165-66. Upon return to the courtroom, Judge Montgomery told the jury that Mr. Bostic’s

collapse was due to “the stress of the testimony.” 9 RR 162. Judge Montgomery then

dismissed the jury for the Memorial Day weekend. 9 RR 162.

Georgia-Pacific moved for a mistrial, 9 RR 162-73, but Judge Montgomery delayed

ruling on the motion until she knew Mr. Bostic’s condition, stating her belief that his medical

condition would not have much impact on the jury unless it was something really serious,

“like a heart attack or something like that.” 9 RR 170-71.

Although Mr. Bostic died the next day, Judge Montgomery refused to rule on the

motion for mistrial until the jury returned a verdict. 10 RR 12-27. Judge Montgomery was

convinced that the jurors were unaware that Mr. Bostic died, so she simply informed the jury

that he was “not available” to return to court to be cross-examined, without any explanation.

12 RR 12-13. Exactly one week after Mr. Bostic’s emotional testimony and collapse, the

court finally instructed the jury to disregard his live trial testimony in favor of his testimony

from the first trial, which was then read into the record, including Mr. Bostic’s statement

from the first trial that he “prayed to God to die” because of his son’s death. 12 RR 12-13.
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Unbeknownst to Georgia-Pacific, on the day the jury was instructed to disregard Mr.

Bostic’s live testimony, the jurors asked the bailiff about Mr. Bostic’s medical condition and

asked why Plaintiffs’ counsel had been wearing all-black apparel since Mr. Bostic ‘ s collapse.

16 RR 155-60, 162; 17 RR 20-21. The bailiff discussed thejury’s questions with Plaintiffs’

counsel, but not counsel for Georgia Pacific. Id. When Judge Montgomery became aware

of the jury’s questions and her bailiff’s response, she instructed her staff not to disclose this

information to Georgia-Pacific’s counsel until she deemed it “relevant.” 17 RR 34-35.

In the meantime, one of the jurors, Courtney Jackson, the EMT who provided medical

assistance to Mr. Bostic, contacted one of his co-workers at the hospital and learned that Mr.

Bostic died after his collapse. 16 RR 123-24, 130-33, 137-40. Mr. Jackson then informed

other jurors that Mr. Bostic had died. Id. The transmission of this information from the

outside source was made before the jurors retired to deliberate. 12 RR 58.

Trial proceeded. After the close of evidence but before jury deliberations began, the

trial court dismissed Courtney Jackson from the jury (instead of striking the entire jury as

requested by Georgia-Pacific). 15 RR 231-37. On July 26, 2006, the jury returned its verdict,

finding that Georgia-Pacific was negligent and strictly liable for defectively marketing its

joint compound. CR 202-03. The jury awarded Plaintiffs $7,554,907 in actual damages and

$6,038,910 in punitive damages, finding Georgia-Pacific responsible for 75% ofthe damages

and Knox Glass responsible for 25%. CR 198-217.

The jury in the first trial awarded $3,127 000 in actual darnages to t1e four wrongffil death
plaintiffs. By the time of the second tnal, Susan 3ostic was happily remamed, 7 RR 150-51, and
Kyle Bostic had become an independent adult, 12 RR 148. Nevertheless, the jury in the second trial
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Immediately after the verdict, the trial court permitted Georgia-Pacific to interview

the jurors and court personnel. 16 RR 121-66. Georgia-Pacific discovered that the jury knew

of Mr. Bostic’s death from an outside source before deliberations had begun, that the bailiff

conversed with Plaintiffs’ counsel regarding the jury’s questions, and that Judge Montgomery

ordered her staff not to inform Georgia-Pacific of these events. 16 RR 123-24, 130-40.

When the court reporter disputed the completeness and accuracy of Judge Montgomery’s

testimony, Judge Montgomery fired the court reporter, 17 RR 36-37.

G. Georgia-Pacific Moved to Recuse Judge Montgomery; Judge Kent Sims
Granted the Motion to Recuse; Judge Russell Roden Granted the Motion
for Mistrial and Ordered a New Trial.

Georgia-Pacific moved to recuse Judge Montgomery because she had knowledge of

the events surrounding Mr. Bostic’s collapse. CR 2 18-29. Judge M. Kent Sims granted the

motion to recuse on that basis. CR 334. Following the recusal, the case was transferred to

awarded $7,554,907 in actual damages to the three wrongful death plaintiffs—i.e., more than double
the actual damages awarded to the four plaintiffs in the first trial. (Harold Bostic died and was not
a wrongful death plaintiff in the second trial.) The difference was the noneconomic damages. For
example, the first jury awarded $650,000 to Susan Bostic for pecuniary loss, loss ofcompanionship
and society, and mental anguish—as compared to $2,415,564 awarded by the second jury (almost
four times the amount found by the first jury). CR 1460. The first jury awarded $350,000 to Kyle
Bostic—as compared to $1,811,670 found by the second (more than five times the amount found by
the firstjury). CR 1461-62. The firstjury awarded $140,000 to Helen Donnahoe—as compared to
$1,207,782 found by the second (almost nine times the amount found by the firstjury). CR 1461-62.

There is no legally sufficient evidence to support the jury’s damage awards. For example,
the jury awarded Plaintiffs $905,837 in future mental anguish damages; there is no evidence of a
“reasonable probability” that Plaintiffs would suffer any mental anguish of any duration or severity
in the future. Adams v. YMCA ofSan Antonio, 265 S.W.3d 915, 917 (Tex. 2008). Thus, the awards
of future mental anguish damages to Plaintiffs fail as a matter of law. Georgia-Pacific, however,
cannot challenge the legal sufficiency ofthe evidence supporting each award ofdamages to Plaintiffs
in this 50-page briefbecause ofits challenge to the jury’s liability and gross negligence findings, and
alternatively, to seek remand for a new trial based on juror, bailiff, and judicial misconduct.
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Judge Russell H. Roden, Dallas County Court at Law No. 1. See CR 335. On December 22,

2006, after hearing argument and considering the parties’ exhaustive filings, Judge Roden

granted Georgia-Pacific’s motion for mistrial and ordered a new trial. CR 4398

H. A New Judge Took Office and Vacated the Order Granting the New Trial
Signed Eighteen Months Earlier.

Judge Roden was not reelected in 2006, and in January 2007, the Honorable D’Metria

Benson replaced him. More than a year after Judge Roden granted the mistrial, on February

11, 2008, Plaintiffs’ filed a motion for vacatur of the order granting the new trial and for

entry of judgment. CR 440-647. Judge Benson granted the motion on July 18, 2008. CR

1222-23. Then, without permitting Georgia-Pacific an opportunity to present its objections

to the form of the judgment (and in violation of the local rules), Judge Benson signed the

Final Judgment proposed by Plaintiffs on the same day that she received it—i.e., July 23,

2008. CR 1224-29. In response to Defendant’s Motion to Modify, Correct or Reform the

Judgment, for New Trial, or for Remittitur, which among other things, challenged the

sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury’s findings, CR 1230-1470, Plaintiffs submitted

an amended judgment for Judge Benson’s signature that adjusted the damages awarded. The

First Amended Final Judgment was signed on October 22, 2008. SCR 9. Defendant’s post

trial motion challenging the sufficiency of the evidence was overruled by operation of law.

8 A more detailed discussion of the prejudicial course of the trii proceedings is set forth in
Georgia-Pacific’s Motion for Mistrial, CR 17Z-91; Supplemental Motion for Mistrial, CR 336-76;
Motion to Recuse Judge Montgomery, CR 218-29; and Supplemental Brief in Support ofIts Motion
to Recuse, CR 231-60. See also infra Part ifi.
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse and render judgment that Plaintiffs take nothing on their

negligence and defective marketing claims because there is no legally sufficient evidence of

specific causation. Whether the Court reviews product identification, dose evidence, or

epidemiological studies, the Court will find a total absence ofproof. At trial, Plaintiffs relied

wholly upon the theory that “each and every exposure” to asbestos caused, or contributed to

cause, Timothy Bostic ‘S mesothelioma—a theory flatly rejected by the Texas Supreme Court

in Borg-Warner v. Flores, 232 S.W.3d 765 (Tex. 2007), and the First Court of Appeals in

Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d 304 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 2007,

pet. denied). Plaintiffs’ gross negligence claims also fail for want of evidentiary support.

There is, however, evidence of one thing—i.e., that Georgia-Pacific was denied its

constitutional right to a fair trial. It is difficult to understand how any trial court could have

legitimately refused to grant a new trial when Plaintiff Harold Bostic collapsed in front of

the jury and later died without Georgia-Pacific having the opportunity to cross-examine him.

The fact that the jury learned from outside sources that Mr. B ostic had died before they began

deliberations and that the court and court personnel concealed the jury’s questions about his

condition simply added to the prejudice against Georgia-Pacific. That is why Georgia

Pacific alternatively asks this Court to reverse and remand for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs sued Georgia-Pacific for negligence and on a strict products liability,

marketing defect claim. Because “[a] fundamental principle of traditional products liability
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law is that the plaintiff must prove that the defendant[] supplied the product which caused

the injury,” Plaintiffs were required to prove that Timothy Bostic was exposed to Georgia-

Pacific joint compound that contained chrysotile. Gaulding v. Celotex Corp., 772 S.W.2d

66, 68 (Tex. 1989). To support a finding that Georgia Pacific was negligent, Plaintiffs had

to prove that Georgia-Pacific negligently failed to give adequate warnings of the risks

known, or reasonably knowable, at the time it marketed its chrysotile-containing joint

compound. See Aim v. Aluminum Co. ofAm., 717 S.W.2d 588, 591 (Tex. 1986). To support

a finding on their strict products liability, marketing defect claim, Plaintiffs had to prove that

Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound was unreasonably dangerous and that Georgia-Pacific

failed to give adequate warnings of risks known, or reasonably knowable, at the time of

marketing. See Lucas v. Tex. Indus., Inc., 696 S.W.2d 372, 377 (Tex. 1984).

Causation is an essential element of both claims: proximate cause in negligence and

producing cause in strict liability. See Borg-Warner v. Fiores, 232 S.W.3d 765, 770 (Tex.

2007); Ford Motor Co. v. Ledesma, 242 S.W.3d 32, 46 (Tex. 2007). Both proximate cause

and producing cause require the plaintiff to show that use of a defendant’s product was a

cause in fact of the plaintiff’s injuries. See Gen. Motors Corp. v. Saenz, 873 S.W.2d 353,

357 (Tex. 1993) (proximate cause also requires foreseeability, producing cause does not).

To show cause in fact, the plaintiff must prove that use of the product was a substantial factor

in bringing about the injury and without which the injury would not have occurred. See

Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 770; Gaulding, 772 S.W.2d at 38; Georgia-FacIc Corp. v. Stephens,

239 S.W.3d 304, 308-09 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 2007, pet. denied). To recover in
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an asbestos case, there must be reliable evidence of “dose”—i.e., how much respirable

asbestos a plaintiff was exposed to, whether those amounts were sufficient to cause the

asbestos-related disease complained of, and the amount attributable to the defendant’s

product. See Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 77 1-72; Stephens, 230 S.W.3d at 312.

Applying this standard in Borg- Warner v. Flores, the Texas Supreme Court reviewed

the plaintiff’s testimony and that of his experts and ruled that evidence of his exposure to

some respirable asbestos fibers while working with brake pads, even on a fairly regular basis

over an extended period of time, was insufficient to establish causation because there was

no proof of dose:

Dr. Castleman testified that, despite the heat generated by braking, “some
asbestos,” in the form of respirable fibers, remained in the brake pads, and that
brake mechanics could be exposed to those fibers when grinding the pads or
blowing out the housings. Flores testified that grinding the pads generated
dust, which he inhaled. Dr. Bukowski testified that every asbestos exposure
contributes to asbestosis. There is no question, on this record, that mechanics
in the braking industry could be exposed to respirable asbestos fibers. But
without more this testimony is insufficient to establish that the Borg-Warner
brake pads were a substantial factor in causing Flores’s disease.

*****

This record, however, reveals nothing about how much asbestos Flores might
have inhaled. He performed about fifteen to twenty brake jobs a week for over
thirty years, and was therefore exposed to “some asbestos” on a fairly regular
basis for an extended period of time. Nevertheless, absent any evidence of
dose, the jury could not evaluate the quantity of respirable asbestos to which
Flores might have been exposed or whether those amounts were sufficient to
cause asbestosis. Nor did Flores introduce evidence regarding what
percentage of that indeterminate amount may have originated in Borg-Warner
products.

Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 77 1-72 (emphasis added).
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When a plaintiff relies not on direct evidence, but on epidemiological studies as

circumstantial evidence of causation, the Texas Supreme Court requires that more than dose

be shown to raise a fact issue on causation:

To raise afact issue on causation and thus to survive legal sufficiency review,
a claimant must do more than simply introduce into evidence epidemiological
studies that show a substantially elevated risk. A claimant must show that he
or she is similar to those in the studies. This would include proof that the
injured person was exposed to the same substance, that the exposure or dose
levels were comparable to or greater than those in the studies, that the
exposure occurred before the onset of injury, and that the timing of the onset
of injury was consistent with that experienced by those in the study.
Further, if there are other plausible causes of the injury or condition that could
be negated, the plaintiff must offer evidence excluding those causes with
reasonable certainty.

MerriliDow Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Havner, 953 S.W.2d 706, 720 (Tex. 1997) (emphasis

added); see Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 772; Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 310. This kind of evidence

is usually in the form of expert opinions. The expert must be qualified to give the opinions

solicited, the testimony must be relevant to the contested issues in the action, and the expert’s

opinions must be based on a reliable foundation. See Havner, 953 S.W.2d at 711-14; E.I.

duPontdeNemours & Co. v. Robinson, 923 S.W.2d 549, 556 (Tex. l995).

Therefore, Plaintiffs here were required to show that exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s

chrysotile-containing joint compound caused Timothy Bostic to develop mesothelioma. See

Toxic tort causation has two conponents.: general cusation and specific causation.Havner, 953 S .W.2d at 714. General causation requires a showing that the detendant’ s particular
product is capable ofcausing the specific injury in the overall population. See id. Specific causation
requires proof that the defendant’s product caused the injury to the particular plaintiff in question.
Id. It is Georgia-Pacific’s position that there is no evidence to support a finding of either general or
specific causation, but for purposes of this appeal only, given the number of other challenges to the
causation evidence, Georgia-Pacific is not challenging general causation.

16



Havner, 953 S.W.2d at 711-14. Plaintiffs failed to meet this burden of proof on proximate

and producing cause in four ways that each independently require this Court to reverse the

jury’s finding of negligence and marketing defect against Georgia-Pacific.1°

First, there is no evidence that Timothy Bostic was ever exposed to Georgia-Pacific

chrysotile-containing joint compound. Gaulding, 772 S.W.2d at 68. Second, even if there

were evidence that Timothy had been exposed to Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile-containing

joint compound, just as in Flores and Stephens, there is no evidence of dose. Flores, 232

S.W.3d at 770; Stephens, 230 S.W.3d at 312. Third, even if there were evidence of exposure

and dose, there are no reliable epidemiological studies that show that persons similar to

Timothy with exposure to asbestos-containing joint compound had an increased risk of

developing mesothelioma. See Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 310. And fourth, Plaintiffs’ expert’s

theory that “each and every exposure” to asbestos caused Timothy’s mesothelioma was flatly

rejected by the Texas Supreme Court in Flores. See 232 S.W.3d at 773. For each of these

reasons, Plaintiffs’ negligence and defective marketing claims fail as a matter of law.

I. THERE IS No LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT GEORGIA-PACIFIC’S JOINT
COMPOUND CAUSED TIMOTHY BOSTIc’S MESOTHELTOMA.

The test for legal sufficiency is “whether the evidence at trial would enable reasonable

and fair-minded people to reach the verdict under review.” City of Keller v. Wilson, 168

10 It is Geoigia-Pacific’ s position that chrysotile-containing joint compoupd manufacturedand sold between 1 967 and 1977 was not unreasonably dangerous and that Georgia-Pacific did not
fail to give adequate warnings ofany risks known or reasonably knowable at the time ofmarketing.
For purposes of this appeal, however, Georgia-Pacific is challenging only the causation element of
the jury’s findings of negligence and of a strict products liability marketing defect.
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S.W.3d 802, 827 (Tex. 2005). In making this determination, the Court must credit favorable

evidence if a reasonable fact-finder could, and disregard any contrary evidence unless a

reasonable fact-finder could not. Id. There is no evidence, or legally insufficient evidence,

when (1) there is a complete absence of evidence of a vital fact; (2) the court is barred by the

rules of law and evidence from giving weight to the only evidence offered to prove a vital

fact; (3) the evidence offered to prove a vital fact is no more than a mere scintilla; or (4) the

evidence conclusively establishes the opposite of the vital fact. Id. at 810.”

A. There Is No Evidence That Timothy Bostic Was Exposed to Georgia-
Pacific’s Joint Compound Between 1967 and 1977.

To prevail on their negligence claim and their defective marketing claim, Plaintiffs

were required to “prove that the defendants supplied the product which caused the injury.”

Gaulding, 772 S.W.2d at 68. Plaintiffs completely failed to meet this initial burden. The only

evidence of Timothy’s use of, or exposure to, Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile-containing joint

compound are statements by Timothy and his father Harold that they used Georgia-Pacific

joint compound frequently, without mention of the year in which the product was used.

The year of use and type ofjoint compound used are key facts necessary to determine

whether Timothy was exposed to chrysotile fibers from a Georgia-Pacific joint compound

product, because not all Georgia-Pacific joint compounds contained chrysotile. Georgia

Pacific purchased Bestwall in 1965. 8 RR 144. Several Georgia-Pacific joint compounds

h1 Georgia-Pacific preserved error on these legal ufficiency issuçs jy fihii,g their Motion to
Modify, Correct, or Reform the Judgment, for New Tnal, or for Remittitur, CR 1230-1470; by
moving for a directed verdict, 13 RR 13-24; and by objecting to the jury charge, 15 RR 310-11.
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were offered in an chrysotile-free form from 1973 to 1977. 9 RR 25-26, 32-3 5. Georgia-

Pacific did not make or sell chrysotile-containing joint compound after 1977. 9 RR 43, 77.

Timothy and Harold Bostic alleged that they used Georgia-Pacific joint compound

while doing weekend remodeling jobs for friends and family members between 1967 (when

Timothy was five years old) and 1977 (when Georgia-Pacific stopped making or selling any

asbestos-containing joint compound). 9 RR 25, 43; 7 RR 178-82; 12 RR 78-143. Although

he testified that he mixed and sanded joint compound from the age of five, Timothy could

not recall whether he ever used Georgia-Pacific joint compound before 1980, though he

believed he had, “but not with 100 percent certainty.” 7 RR 178-82; 8 RR 17-18. He did not

provide any details regarding this possible use. Id. Timothy testified that he used Georgia-

Pacific joint compound on numerous remodeling jobs after graduating from high school in

1980, 8 RR 17-18, but by that time, Georgia-Pacific had stopped making or selling asbestos-

containing joint compound, 9 RR 25, 43. Timothy’s testimony that he might have used

Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound before 1980, 8 RR 17-18, in a form that may or may not

have contained chrysotile, is pure speculation and constitutes no evidence. See Frias v. Ati.

Richfield Co., 104 S.W.3d 925, 930-3 1 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 2003, no pet.).

Although Harold testified that they used Georgia-Pacific joint compound “98 percent

of the time” that they did drywall work, 12 RR 39, he recalled only three instances between

1967 and 1977 when he and his son possibly did any drywall work at all, and he could not

recall whether Timothy worked with Georgia-Pacific joint compound on any of those three

jobs. See 12 RR 11 9-27, 130-31. Despite asking friends and family if they recalled any other
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remodeling jobs that he and his son did for them between 1967 and 1977, neither he nor they

remembered any others. 12 RR 142.

Given the complete lack of evidence regarding whether Timothy Bostic ever used

Georgia-Pacific joint compound before 1980, there is no evidence that he was exposed to

Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile-containing joint compound. Therefore, there is no evidence that

Georgia-Pacific “supplied the product which caused” Timothy Bostic’s mesothelioma, and

Plaintiffs’ negligence and defective marketing claims fail for want of essential evidence. See

Gaulding, 772 S.W.2d at 68. And without proof of product identification, Plaintiffs also

necessarily failed to prove that Timothy Bostic’s alleged exposure to asbestos was frequent,

regular, and in close proximity to Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound as required to prove

substantial factor causation. See Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 770; Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 312.

This failure of proof alone requires that the trial court’s judgment be reversed and

judgment rendered that Plaintiffs take nothing on their claims against Georgia-Pacific, and

the Court need not address the remaining issues presented in this brief. If, however, the

Court feels obliged to consider the other deficiencies in Plaintiffs’ causation proof Plaintiffs’

claims fall for three additional reasons.

B. There Is No Evidence of the “Dose” of Asbestos from Georgia-Pacific
Joint Compound to Which Timothy Bostic Was Exposed.

Assuming that Plaintiffs had proven that Timothy Bostic was exposed to asbestos

from Georgia-Pacific joint compound and that this exposure was sufficiently frequent,

regular, and in close proximity to establish substantial factor causation, Plaintiffs were also
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required to present reliable and quantitative evidence of “dose”—i.e., how much respirable

asbestos Timothy Bostic was exposed to, whether that amount was sufficient to cause his

mesothelioma, and the percentage of his total asbestos exposure attributable to Georgia

Pacific’sjoint compound. See Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 771-72; Stephens, 230 S.W.3d at 312.

Absent any dose evidence, legally sufficient evidence of substantial factor causation is not

possible because dose is the foundation of this inquiry.

Under the rationale announced by the First Court ofAppeals in Georgia-Pacific Corp.

v. Stephens, there is no evidence of dose in this case. See 239 S.W.3d at 320-21. In that case,

Stephens claimed that his exposure to Georgia-Pacific joint compound while working as a

painter caused his mesothelioma. Id. at 306. Stephens testified that he used Georgia-Pacific

joint compound “quite a bit” on jobs during the l960s and 1970s. Id. at 313. He not only

applied Georgia-Pacific joint compound to sheetrock on a number of small jobs, but also

swept up after other workers applied and sanded Georgia-Pacific joint compound, which “put

dust up into the air where you could see it.” Id. His co-workers testified that Stephens was

often no more than twenty to thirty feet away from workers who mixed dry joint compound

with water and were “generally pretty close” to, and in the room with, workers who sanded

joint compound. Id. His coworkers also testified that they stood a maximum of six feet away

from the wall when they spray painted the walls, a process that raised “clouds of dust.” Id.

Stephens’ experts included an industrial hygienist, aboard-certified pulmonary disease

specialist, and Dr. Hammar (who is Plaintiffs’ expert in this case). Id. at 314. The industrial

hygienist testified that Stephens’ exposures to Georgia-Pacific joint compound were “at a
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level and of the type that are known by industrial hygienists to contribute to the development

of asbestos-related disease.” Id. However, the industrial hygienist admitted that he “could

not come up with a range of likely doses that Mr. Stephens would have had to joint

compound asbestos.” Id. The pulmonary disease specialist admitted that she had “no

information about the particular asbestos-containing products to which [Stephens] was

exposed” and did not express any opinion regarding causation. Id. Dr. Hammar testified,

as he does in this case, that “each and every exposure” to asbestos causes mesothelioma. Id.

The First Court of Appeals concluded that these facts constituted no evidence of dose:

[Stephens] . . . painted interior walls about seven to twelve percent of the time,
and other workers were doing sheetrock work on about fifty to seventy-five
percent of these jobs. They worked in close proximity to sheetrock workers,
who mixed and sanded joint compound, both of which were dusty processes.
Before [Stephens] and his crew could paint, they had to sweep dust off the
floor. Moreover, the spray painting process itself stirredup asbestos dust. The
record does not reveal, however, how frequently this dust came from Georgia-
Pacific’s joint compound, as opposed to one of the other joint compound
products [Stephens’] coworkers recalled seeing on their job sites. .

In this record, there is no evidence concerning the percentage of Georgia-
Pacific joint compound used in comparison to the quantity of other products
used on [Stephens’] job sites, nor any quantitative estimate of the number of
times Georgia-Pacific joint compound was used on [his] job sites. . . . Thus,
although there was evidence that [Stephens] was exposed to asbestos-
containing joint compound generally, there was no quantitative evidence
presented upon which [Stephens’] experts could rely to determine that he was
exposed to Georgia-Pacific’s product in sufficient quantities to have increased
his risk of developing mesothelioma.

Id. at 319. Thus, the court of appeals concluded that “the evidence of [Stephens’] exposure

to Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound is legally problematic because it lacks the quantitative

element that . . . [Flores] require[s].” Id. at 320.
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The same is true in this case, except that Plaintiffs introduced even less evidence of

exposure to chrysotile-containing joint compound than did the plaintiff in Stephens. In

Stephens, there was evidence of exposure to Georgia-Pacific joint compound “generally.”

Id. at 319. There is no such evidence here. See supra Part 1(A). And while there is some

evidence that Timothy Bostic used or was present during the use ofjoint compound generally

between 1967 and 1977, neither Timothy nor Harold Bostic or anyone else testified to the

number of times that he was exposed to chrysotile-containing joint compound, the amount

of respirable asbestos that he was exposed to on any particular occasion, or the duration of

his alleged exposures. Not surprisingly, since Plaintiffs offered no evidence of exposure to

Georgia-Pacific asbestos-containing joint compound, they did not—nor could they—offer

any evidence of the percentage of Timothy Bostic’s overall exposure that came from

Georgia-Pacific. See Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 771-72. Therefore, there is no evidence of dose.

Plaintiffs’ experts admitted that there is no evidence of the dose, duration, or intensity

ofTimothy’s alleged exposure to asbestos from use of Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound and

that they did not attempt to make any quantitative assessment ofhis actual dose. 4 RR 80-81;

5RR31-32; 10 RR 73-74, 106-07, 115; 11 RR48-51,87-88, 151-53. Theseexperts further

failed to determine what percentage of Timothy’s exposure to asbestos resulted from his use

of Georgia-Pacific joint compound versus his other known sources of asbestos exposure, like

atKnox Glass. 4RR 172-75; 5 RR31; 1ORR 164-80; 11 RR 106-08, 131-37, 151-52.

Instead, Plaintiffs instructed their material scientist expert, Dr. Longo, to conduct tests

to determine the amounts of asbestos released during the mixing, sanding, and sweeping of
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Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound in a controlled environment. See 10 RR 63-91; PX-67-69.

Despite admitting that quantification of an actual dose for Timothy Bostic was “impossible”

in his opinion and admitting that his tests were not designed to show actual exposure levels

for any particular person, including Timothy Bostic, 10 RR 73-74, 90-91, 106-07, Dr. Longo

nevertheless proceeded to testify that he could “quantify” the “type of exposure” Timothy

may have had to Georgia-Pacific’s joint compound “in a general sense” based on Harold

Bostic’s deposition testimony, 10 RR 106. Although the deposition testimony provided Dr.

Longo with no information regarding the frequency, regularity, or proximity of Timothy’s

use of Georgia-Pacific chrysotile-containing joint compound, Dr. Longo nevertheless

claimed that Timothy Bostic’s “type of exposure” to chrysotile from Georgia-Pacific joint

compound was “significant.” 10 RR 106-07. Thus, there are no facts to support his opinion.

Dr. Longo’s opinion is no evidence of dose for four reasons: (1) as discussed above,

his opinions are not supported by any facts; (2) Dr. Longo admitted at trial that his use of the

term “significant” did not mean that the alleged exposure was sufficient to cause asbestos-

related diseases because that was “not his area,” 10 RR 91-92; (3) though Dr. Longo defined

“significant” exposure as ten to twenty times “background” level, he was unable to quantify

what the “background” level was for Timothy Bostic, thereby providing no benchmark for

calculating dose, 10 RR 92-94; and (4) Dr. Longo admitted that he “[didn’t] really do product

ID. I mean I don’t testify who used what and when.” 10 RR 115. By his own admission,

Dr. Longo’s tests were designed to show no more than how much asbestos was released from

a product during certain types of activities in a controlled environment without factoring in
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any of the variables that could raise or lower a person’s actual exposure dose. See 10 RR 73-

74, 90-91, 106-07. In reality, his opinion regarding a “significant” dose is nothing more than

the ipse dixit of an expert, see Kerr-McGee Corp. v. Helton, 133 S.W.3d 245, 257-58 (Tex.

2004), and is not the type of quantitative evidence that Flores and Stephens require. Flores,

232 S.W.3d at 770; Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 320. In the absence of any evidence of dose,

there is not—and cannot be—any evidence regarding whether that unknown dose was

sufficient to increase the risk of injury. Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 77 1-72. This absence of

evidence of dose and increased risk of injury is fatal to Plaintiffs’ claims.

C. There Is No Evidence That Timothy Bostic’s Exposure to Asbestos from
Georgia-Pacific Joint Compound Was Similar to the Subjects in Reliable
Epidemiological Studies Showing A Link Between Mesothelioma and
Joint Compound Similar to Georgia-Pacific’s Joint Compounds.

This case was not tried on direct evidence of causation. Because Plaintiffs rely upon

circumstantial evidence to prove causation, Havner standards control. In Havner, the Texas

Supreme Court held that, in a case in which there is no direct evidence of specific causation,

a plaintiff may rely upon epidemiological studies showing more than a doubling of the risk

of their particular injury resulting from exposure to the substance at issue to create a fact

issue on causation. 953 S.W.2d at 71415.I2 When a plaintiff relies on epidemiological

12 Under Havner, an epidemiological s.tudy must shpw that a person’s exposure to theparticular toxic substance and type ofproduct at issue in the suit more than doubled the nsk that the
person would develop the specific injury over the risk of an unexposed person—i.e., it must show
a relative risk greater than 2.0 at a confidence level of 95%, with a confidence interval that does not
include 1.0. Havner, 953 S.W.2d at 7 14-15. The 95% confidence level “means that if the study
were repeated numerous times,” the relative risk would fall with the confidence interval 95% of the
time. Id. A confidence interval that does not include 1.0 means that the results are statistically
significant and likely not due to chance. Id. at 723.
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studies to prove specific causation, he must show that he is “similar” to the individuals in the

study—i.e., the plaintiff must present “proof that [he] was exposed to the same substance,

that the exposure or dose levels were comparable to or greater than those in the studies, that

the exposure occurred before the onset of injury, and that the timing of the onset of injury

was consistent with that experienced by those in the study.” Id. at 720. Without this

showing, “epidemiological studies are without evidentiary significance, as is expert opinion

based on them.” Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 770.

Dr. Lemen was Plaintiffs’ only expert who discussed specific epidemiological studies

that purportedly showed that exposure to chrysotile from joint compound increases the risk

of mesothelioma. He discussed six studies specifically related to asbestos-containing joint

compound)3 All of the studies that Dr. Lemen relied upon fail to satisfy Havner.’4

Of these six studies, five are Havner deficient because they are not epidemiological

studies. The first four studies are no more than reports of levels of asbestos released from

the use of joint compounds manufactured by unidentified companies. See 5 RR 128-32, 7

13 Dr. Lemen also discussed pidemiological stu•dies purporting to establish generally that
exposure to asbestos causes mesothehoma and more specifically that exposure to chrysotile asbestos
increases the risk of developing mesothelioma. See 5 RR 108-27. These studies, however, relate
only to general causation, which is disputed but not challenged for purposes of this brief only.

14 Five of the six studies were not admitted into evidence. Instead, Plaintiffs offered a
summary of those studies authored by Dr. Lemen. See PCX-3 (Lemen, Asbestos Timetables — A
guidefor policymakers (Feb. 3, 2005)). An expert must identify the specific studies on which he
relies, have those studies admitted into evidence, and explain how the methodology of the studies
is scientifically reliable. Minn. Mm. and Mfg. Co. v. Atterbury, 978 S.W.2d 183, 198 (Tex.
App.—Texarkana 1998, pet. denied) (citing Havner, 953 S.W.2d at 725); see Frias, 104 S.W.3d at
929-3 0 (determining reliability of studies supporting experts’ general causation opinion and noting
that certain studies were not in the record and thus could not be reviewed for compliance with the
Havner standards). Therefore, these five studies constitute no evidence.
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RR 23-24 (Rohi, et al., Exposure to Asbestos in the Use of Consumer Spackling, Patching

and Taping Compounds, SCIENCE, vol. 189, no. 4204, at 551 (Aug. 15, 1975)); 5 RR 132-34,

6 RR 25-27, 7 RR 2 5-26 (Fischbein, eta!., Drywall Construction & Asbestos Exposure, AM.

INDUS. HYG. ASSOC. J., vol. 40, no.5, at 402-07 (1979)); 5 RR 135-37,6 RR 85,7 RR 27-33

(Verma & Middleton, Occupational Exposure to Asbestos in the Drywall Taping Process,

AM. INDUS. HYG. ASSOC. J., vol 41, no. 4, at 264-69 (1980)); 6 RR 85-86 (Gypsum Ass’n,

Evaluation ofExposure to Asbestos During Mixing & Sanding ofJoint Compound (Nov. 19,

1973); PX-27.15 Dr. Lemen admitted that these studies did not identify Georgia-Pacific’s

joint compound as among the joint compounds being studied and did not attempt to correlate

any reported exposure levels with any incidence of mesothelioma or asbestos-related

diseases. See 6 RR 8586.16 For these reasons, the first three studies failed to pass muster

with the Houston Court of Appeals in Stephens. 239 S.W.3d at 316-17) The fourth study

suffers from the same faults. Thus, these studies should fare no better with this Court.

The fifth study Dr. Lemen relied on, a 1975 study of x-ray abnormalities among

drywall workers, fails for the same reason, see PCX-3 (Nicholson, Occupational and

IS Dr. Lemen mentioned other “exposure tests” conducted by various trade associations and
companies in the 1970s, see, e.g., 6 RR 35-36, but the results of the tests were neither discussed nor
included in the record.

16 Dr. Longo admittedthat he Gorgia-P.acific Bestwall joint compound released the lowest
amount of asbestos fibers during his testing of different brands ofjoint compound. 10 RR 150-52.
He testified that the amounts of asbestos fibers released by other joint compounds could release up
to 1000% more fibers. 10 RR 151-55.

‘ Steplzens does not recite th iames and authprs of thethree studies however, it is. apparent
from a comparison of the court’s opinion and the various studies that the court was refemng to the
Rohi, Fischbein, and Verma & Middleton studies.
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Community Asbestos Exposure from Wallboard Finishing Compounds, BULL. N.Y. ACAD.

MED., vol. 51, no. 10, at 1180 (1975)). The study did not attempt to correlate the alleged

exposure to the incidence of mesothelioma among those workers. See PCX-3; 7 RR 23-25.

The sixth study is a 2001 “mortality analysis” of members of the Operative Plasterers’

and Cement Masons’ International Association. Stern, et a!., Mortality Among Unionized

Construction Plasterers and Cement Masons, AM. J. IND. MED., vol. 39, no. 4, at 373 (Apr.

2001)); 5 RR 13 8-40. This 2001 study, which was similarly relied upon by the plaintiffs in

Stephens, was no evidence of specific causation for two reasons. Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at

3 17-18. First, the Stephens court found that although the study investigated the incidence of

mesothelioma among its subjects, the subjects included plasterers exposed to amphibole

asbestos from a variety of sources, e.g., plastering, spray insulation, taping, asbestos removal

during demolition projects, and fireproofing mixture. Id. at 317. Thus, the subjects of the

study were not “similar” to Mr. Stephens. (Nor are they similar to Timothy Bostic.). Second,

although the risk of mesothelioma was elevated, the proportionate mortality ratio was “not

statistically significant.” Id. at 318 & n.9. The Stephens court also specifically disapproved

of the study’s “data reanalysis” because it failed to identify a significance level or a

confidence interval. Id. at 3 18 n. 10 (citing Havner, 953 S.W.2d at 726). Finally, Dr. Lemen

himself admitted that “there’s a lot ofproblems with that study” and that he “wouldn’t really

rely that heavily” on it. 6 RR 214. The study thus fails to show that persons exposed to

chrysotile from joint compound have more than double the risk of developing mesothelioma

as compared to those who are unexposed. See Havner, 953 S.W.2d at 717. Just as the Stern
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study failed to pass muster in Stephens, so too should it fail here.

In the absence of any epidemiological studies showing more than a doubling of the

risk of mesothelioma from exposure to joint compounds similar to Georgia-Pacific’s joint

compound or any proof of similarity between Timothy Bostic and the study subjects,

including that the study subjects were exposed to joint compound at comparable dose levels,

none of the six studies is evidence supporting specific causation. Havner, 953 S.W.2d at

720. Thus, Plaintiffs wholly failed to prove causation based on circumstantial evidence.

B. Expert Testimony That “Each and Every Exposure” to Georgia-Pacific
Asbestos-Containing Joint Compound Caused or Contributed to Timothy
Bostic’s Mesothelioma Is No Evidence of Specific Causation.

Texas law is clear: expert testimony that “each and every exposure” to asbestos

causes, or contributes to causing, an asbestos-related disease is no evidence supporting a

finding of specific causation. In Flores, the Texas Supreme Court expressly rejected the

“each and every exposure” theory of liability:

[Plaintiff’s expert] acknowledged that asbestos is “plentiful” in the ambient air
and that “everyone” is exposed to it. If a single fiber could cause asbestosis,
however, “everyone” would be susceptible. No one suggests this is the case.
Given asbestos’s prevalence, therefore, some exposure “threshold” must be
demonstrated before a claimant can prove his asbestosis was caused by a
particular product. . . . In analyzing the legal sufficiency of Flores’s
negligence claim, then, the court of appeals erred in holding that “[i]n the
context of asbestos-related claims, if there is sufficient evidence that the
defendant supplied any of the asbestos to which the plaintiffwas exposed, then
the plaintiff has met the burden of proof.”

Flores, 232 S.W.3d at 773 (emphasis in original). Rather, the Supreme Court required the

plaintiff to prove “that the defendant’s product was a substantial factor in causing the alleged
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harm.” Id. And two months later, the Fourteenth Court of Appeals at Houston reached the

same conclusion in a mesothelioma case. See Stephens, 239 S.W.3d at 320-21. In Stephens,

Dr. Hammar—the same expert in this case—testified that “each and every exposure that an

individual has in a bystander occupation setting causes their mesothelioma.” Id. at 3 15. The

court of appeals rejected this testimony as legally insufficient evidence of causation:

Without quantitative evidence of exposure and any scientific evidence of the
minimum exposure level leading to an increased risk of development of
mesothelioma, we hold that the opinions offered by the Stephenses’ experts in
this case lack the factual and scientific foundation required by [Flores] and
thus are legally insufficient to support the jury’s causation finding.

Id. at 321. The same is true here, and this Court should follow Flores and Stephens.

Dr. Hammar, the Plaintiffs’ only expert witness regarding the causation of Timothy

Bostic’s mesothelioma, testified that “each and every” exposure to friable asbestos fibers

above background levels “had the potential to contribute to” the development of Timothy

Bostic’s mesothelioma—regardless of the source of the exposure. See 11 RR 38-39, 48-51.

When asked whether any of Timothy Bostic’s exposures to asbestos could be excluded as a

cause of his mesothelioma, Dr. Hammar said “no.” 11 RR 40-41, 51, 106-11, 151-52. And

when asked if he could opine that, without any exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile

containing joint compound, Timothy Bostic would not have developed mesothelioma, Dr.

Hammar again said “no.” 11 RR 139. Plaintiffs’ other three experts expressly disclaimed

any ability to offer opinions on the specific cause of Timothy Bostic’s mesothelioma. 5 RR

31; 4 RR 80-81; 10 RR 91-92, 106-07, 115. Thus, Dr. Hammar’s “each and every” exposure

theory is the only evidence supporting the jury’s finding of causation, and the Supreme Court
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has determined that his testimony is legally insufficient to support a finding of causation.

Plaintiffs alleged two claims: negligence and strict liability. Because both claims

require proof of substantial causation, both fail for want of evidence of proximate cause and

producing cause respectively. The trial court’s judgment should be reversed and judgment

rendered that Plaintiffs take nothing on their claims.

II. THERE IS No EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A FINDING OF GROSS NEGLIGENCE.

To prove their claim for gross negligence under Texas law, Plaintiffs were required

to show by clear and convincing evidence (1) that when viewed from Georgia-Pacific’s

standpoint from 1967 through 1977, its manufacturing of chrysotile-containing joint

compound involved “an extreme degree of risk, considering the probability and magnitude

of the potential harm to others” (the objective prong), and (2) that Georgia-Pacific had

“actual, subjective awareness of the risk involved, but nevertheless proceed[ed] with

conscious indifference to the rights, safety, or welfare of others” (the subjective prong). See

TEX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 41.001(2), 41.003; Transp. Ins. Co. v. Moriel, 879 S.W.2d

10, 23 (Tex. 1994); Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Altimore, 256 S.W.3d 415, 418 (Tex. App.—

Houston [14th Dist.] 2008, no pet.). Plaintiffs did not meet this burden.

In proving gross negligence, a plaintiff’s burden is not satisfied by evidence of

ordinary negligence. Universal Servs. Corp. v. Ung, 904 S.W.2d 638, 641 (Tex. 1995). The

evidence to prove gross negligence must be clear and convincing. Monet, 879 S .W .2d at 23.

“Requiring only ‘[a]nything more than’ a mere scintilla of evidence does not equate to clear

and convincing evidence.” In re J.F.C., 96 S.W.3d 256, 264-65 (Tex. 2002). Clear and
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convincing evidence is that measure or degree of proof that will produce in the mind of the

trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations sought to be

established. Id. at 265-66. In making this determination, the Court must review all of the

record evidence. See Southwestern Bell Tel. Co. v. Garza, 164 S.W.3d 607, 627 (Tex. 2004).

The Texas Supreme Court has given clear guidelines of the kind of evidence that

satisfies both the objective and subjective prongs of the gross-negligence standard. See Lee

Lewis Constr., Inc. v. Harrison, 70 S.W.3d 778, 786 (Tex. 2001) (objective prong); La. Pac.

Corp. v. Andrade, 19 S.W.3d 245, 248 (Tex. 1999) (subjective prong); Mobil Oil Corp. v.

Ellender, 968 S.W.2d 917, 924 (Tex. 1998) (objective prong); Ung, 904 S.W.2d at 641

(objective prong). These cases make clear that in this case there is no evidence, and certainly

no clear and convincing evidence, that satisfies either the objective or subjective prong.

A. There Is No Evidence Satisfying the Objective Prong.

Medical and scientific literature regarding the risks of asbestos exposure in any and

every possible form under a whole host of exposure scenarios does not satisfy the objective

prong of the gross-negligence test. At best, this literature, which comprises Plaintiffs’ proof,

shows “a general risk of harm.” The Supreme Court, however, has repeatedly made clear

that evidence of a general risk of harm does not support a finding on the objective prong.

In Ung, for example, the Court noted that evidence showing that working along a busy

highway is a potentially dangerous activity did not satisfy the objective prong. Ung, 904

S.W.2d at 642. Similarly, in Lee Lewis Construction, the Court noted that the general risk

of working on multi-story buildings would not have been enough. Lee Lewis Constr., 70

32



S.W.3d at 786. Nor can knowledge of the general risk of asbestos exposure in this case be

enough. The only evidence that would satisfy the objective prong is evidence that there was

knowledge of an extreme risk of the specific harm (mesothelioma) resulting from the use of

the specific product (Georgia-Pacific’s or similar chrysotile-containing joint compound)

during the 1967-1977 timeframe. There is no such evidence.

The objective prong is also not satisfied by conduct that “merely creates a remote

possibility of serious injury.” Instead, the conduct must “create the ‘likelihood of serious

injury.” Ung, 904 S.W.2d at 641 (quoting Moriel, 879 S.W.2d at 22) (emphasis added). In

Ung, the plaintiff worked on a cleaning crew alongside a major highway, which the Court

found was an inherently dangerous activity, when he was struck by a trailer that came off a

truck after the truck hit a pothole. Id. at 639, 642. The Court found that the objective prong

was not satisfied even though: (1) plaintiff’s supervisor knew about the pothole and that a

trailer had previously come loose on another truck after hitting the same pothole; (2) the

company did not properly position its trucks to act as barriers; (3) no additional barriers were

placed; and (4) no flagpersons or signs warned of the pothole. Id. at 64 1-64. The defendant’s

knowledge of the general hazards of roadside work was simply not enough without a

showing that there was a likelihood of injury from the particular situation. Id. at 642; see Lee

Lewis Constr., 70 S.W.3d at 786; Ellender, 968 S.W.2d at 924.

Knowledge of the general dangers of asbestos exposure is similarly not enough. In

Altimore, the Fourteenth Court of Appeals recently reviewed Dr. Lemen’s state of the art

testimony (the same state of the art expert as in this case) and concluded that his opinions and
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the studies that he relied upon to demonstrate a general knowledge of the dangers of asbestos

exposure did not constitute legally sufficient evidence that there existed an extreme risk of

serious injury to the plaintiff between 1944 and 1977. See 256 S.W.3d at 420-25. In this

case, Dr. Lemen cited many of the same studies that he relied upon in Altimore and again

testified extensively about the progression of general scientific knowledge about asbestos-

related diseases, see 5 RR 6-159; 6 RR 9-217; 7 RR 4-134. But his testimony and the studies

he relied upon do not constitute any evidence that there existed an extreme degree of risk that

a person could develop mesothelioma from exposures to Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile

containing joint compound between 1967 and 1977. See Altimore, 256 S.W.3d at 425.

This Court must review all of the evidence of objective awareness from the viewpoint

of Georgia-Pacific at the time the injury occurred, without the benefit of hindsight. See

Moriel, 879 S.W.2d at 23; Altimore, 256 S.W.3d at 417. Only information from the time

period in which exposure allegedly occurred (in this case, 1967-77) can satisfy the objective

prong. Monet, 879 S.W.2d at 23. This record shows, as did the record in Altimore, that

during the relevant time period, “there was a consensus within the scientific community that

there was a measurably safe level of exposure to asbestos,” Altimore, 925 S.W.3d at 422,

425, which was the basis for exposure regulations dating back to 1946, 10 RR 55; and for the

1972 and 1978 OSHA permissible exposure limit standards for workers based on an eight

hour, five day a week, 45 year average, see 6 RR 152-64. This consensus lasted well past

the relevant time period in this case, as OSHA promulgated regulations in 1976 and 1986 for
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permissible asbestos exposure limits until finally banning its use entirely in 1994.18 See 6 RR

196-98. The only epidemiological study that Dr. Lemen relied upon to show any potential

risk of disease from asbestos-containing joint compound was published in 2001,24 years

after Georgia-Pacific stopped manufacturing or selling joint compound with chrysotile (and

even this study did not deal with mesothelioma). 7 RR 25; PCX-3. As inAltimore, there is

no evidence that “a reasonable trier of fact could form a firm belief or conviction, when

viewed objectively from [Georgia-Pacific’s] standpoint, there was an extreme degree of risk

of serious injury to [Timothy Bostic] during the relevant period of time.” 256 S.W.3d at 425.

B. There Is No Evidence Satisfying the Subjective Prong.

Neither the general information about the dangers of asbestos exposure dating back

to the 1930s nor the Georgia-Pacific and joint-compound industry documents cited by the

Plaintiffs constitute any evidence that Georgia-Pacific had actual awareness of an extreme

risk of developing mesothelioma from the use of its chrysotile-containing joint compound

between 1965 and 1977. See Monet, 879 S.W.2d at 21-22 (defining subjective prong).

Merely being a manufacturer of an asbestos-containing product does not equate with the

“actual awareness” of an “extreme risk” of harm necessary to satisfy the subjective prong,

which is defendant- and product-specific. Thus, a manufacturer of one type ofproduct is not

held to have actual knowledge of risk stemming from a completely different product. See

In re R.O.C., 131 S.W.3d 129, 136 (Tex. App.—San Antonio 2004, no pet.). For example,

18 As evn Dr. Lemen acknowledged, the Ppblic Health Service, which was the govrnmentagency that studied asbestos more than any other, did not even suggest a ban on asbestos until 1976.
6 RR 151-52.
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inMigues v. Fibreboard Corp., 662 F.2d 1182, 1188 (5th Cir. 1981), the Fifth Circuit made

clear that a defendant’s subjective awareness is not based on all asbestos-related knowledge,

but only on the scientific literature concerning that particular defendant’s products.

Similarly, in A itim ore, the court of appeals rejected the contention that “purported awareness

of extreme risk to refinery employees equates with awareness of extreme risk to their

spouses” and found that a defendant’s knowledge of a risk to employees was no evidence of

knowledge of an extreme degree of risk to employees’ family members. 256 S.W.3d at 423.

Consequently, none of the studies, articles, tests, or memos about the risks of asbestos

generally that Plaintiffs’ introduced at trial were any evidence satisfying the subjective prong.

In reality, there can be no evidence of actual awareness of the risk of mesothelioma

from joint compound from 1967 to 1977 because there were no epidemiological reports

connecting the use of joint compound and mesothelioma during that time period. See 7 RR

23-33; PCX-3. Even today there are no epidemiological studies showing more than a

doubling of the risk with a 95% confidence interval that does not include 1.0 for people with

mesothelioma who were routinely exposed to asbestos from joint compound—much less

multiple such studies or studies of subjects, like Timothy Bostic, who used asbestos

containing joint compound on an occasional, non-professional basis. Rather, the evidence

at trial showed that there was a widespread belief in the scientific and governmental

communities that there was a safe level at which one could be exposed to asbestos for eight

hours a day, five days a week, for forty-five years, without undue risk of developing an

asbestos-related disease. That beliefwas the basis for the OSHA exposure regulations. 6 RR
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158-64. The Georgia-Pacific and joint-compound industry documents included in the record

in this case do not show that Georgia-Pacific believed any differently than the scientific and

governmental communities at that time. PX-5-29, 31-45, 7 1-77. There simply is no evidence

demonstrating that, between 1967 and 1977, Georgia-Pacific was aware that use of its

chrysotile-containing joint compound created an extreme risk of developing mesothelioma

even when used by professional drywallers, much less when used infrequently.’9

There is no clear and convincing evidence of both the objective and subjective

elements of Plaintiffs’ gross negligence claim.

III. ALTERNATIVELY, THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO
GRANT A NEW TRIAL AND BY LATER VACATING AN ORDER GRANTING A NEW
TRIAL TO GEORGIA-PACIFIC.

If the Court does not reverse and render judgment that Plaintiffs take nothing on their

claims against Georgia-Pacific, the Court should, at a minimum, reverse and remand for a

new trial. The conduct of the trial court, the bailiff, and the jury resulted in a trial setting so

prejudicial to Georgia-Pacific that a fair trial was impossible. Judge Montgomery’s refusal

to grant Georgia-Pacific’s motion for mistrial and Judge Benson’s vacatur of Judge Roden’s

order granting a new trial constitute abuses of discretion.

19 Alteniatively the trial court erred in reapportioning.the $6,038,910 in punitive damages
awarded by the jury. I he jury apportioned the award of punttlve damages to Susan Bostic (50 /o),

Kyle Bostic (30%), and Helen Donnahoe (20%). CR 2 14-15. Plaintiffs, however, did not move for
the entry ofajudgment awarding punitive damages to Helen Donnahoe. See CR 624. Rather, the
judgment drafted by Plaintiffs and signed upon receipt by the trial court reapportioned the 20% of
punitive damages awarded to Helen Donnahoe between Susan Bostic and Kyle Bostic. See CR 624,
SCR 7. This reapportionment was error. See TEX. R. Civ. P. 301 (“The judgment of the court shall
conform to the pleadings, the nature of the case proved and the [jury’s] verdict. .

.
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A. It Was an Abuse of Discretion Not to Grant a Mistrial After the Jury Saw
Plaintiff Harold Bostic Collapse Outside the Courtroom, the Judge and
a Juror Rendered Aid, and Judge Montgomery Improperly Instructed the
Jury That the Trial Caused His Collapse.

This Court reviews the trial court’s denial of Georgia-Pacific’s motion for mistrial for

an abuse of discretion. Lopez v. La Madeleine ofTex., Inc., 200 S.W.3d 854, 860 (Tex. App.

—Dallas 2006, no pet.). A trial court abuses its discretion if it rules arbitrarily, unreasonably,

or without regard to guiding legal principles. Cire v. Cummings, 134 S.W.3d 835, 83 8-39

(Tex. 2004). The trial court’s decision not to grant a mistrial in this extraordinary case was

unreasonable and amounted to a clear abuse of discretion.

During his direct testimony, Harold Bostic testified about his son’s death and its

emotional impact on him. 9 RR 117-59. After two hours of his testimony, crying throughout,

the court took a brief recess. 9 RR 170-71. Mr. Bostic left the witness stand, proceeded into

the hallway, and in full view of Judge Montgomery and a majority ofjurors, collapsed. 9 RR

160. Judge Montgomery directed one of the jurors, Courtney Jackson, an emergency medical

technician, to assist her in placing Mr. Bostic on a hall bench. 9 RR 165-66. Mr. Bostic was

rushed to the hospital, but he died the next day. Shortly after his collapse, the judge informed

the jury that Mr. Bostic collapsed due to “the stress of the testimony.” 9 RR 161-62.

The jury was then dismissed for the Memorial Day weekend. 9 RR 162. Georgia-

Pacific moved for a mistrial at that time. 9 RR 162-73. Judge Montgomery delayed ruling

on the motion for mistrial until she knew what Mr. Bostic’s condition was, stating that she

did not believe his collapse would have much impact on the jury unless it was “something
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which really is injurious to his health, like a heart attack or something like that.” 9 RR 170-

71. The judge stated, “there won’t be grounds for a mistrial if, in fact, he has no medical

condition that’s come out of this such as a stroke or heart attack.” 9 RR 170-71.

Simply witnessing Mr. Bostic’s collapse following his emotional testimony certainly

prejudiced the jury against Georgia-Pacific to some extent,2°but the combination of seeing

Mr. Bostic’s sudden collapse coupled with Judge Montgomery’s comment as to its cause—

i.e., the suit against Georgia-Pacific—tipped the balance so far against Georgia-Pacific that

a mistrial was mandated to ensure a fair trial. Judge Montgomery’s comment was improper

and exceedingly harmful, as it was made right after Mr. Bostic’s emotional testimony.

Texas law prohibits “in substance any comment by the judge upon the weight of the

evidence.” City ofHouston v. Pillot, 105 S.W.2d 870, 871 (Tex. 1937). It is the role of the

judge in a jury trial to “preside with impartiality, . . . be[ingj especially careful to say or do

nothing which would be calculated to influence [the jurors’] minds in regard to facts in issue,

the solution of which it is their duty to determine.” Murray v. Morris, 17 S.W.2d 110, 112

(Tex. Civ. App.—Amarillo 1928, writ dism’d w.o.j.) (quoting Hargrove v. Fort Worth

Elevator Co., 276 S.W. 426, 428 (Tex. Comm’n App. 1925, holding approved)).

The Texas Constitution provides that the right of trial by jury shall remain “inviolate.”

20 Judge Montgomery acknowldged that witnessing his collapsç would have a prejudicial
impact on the jury: “Iknow you’re going to be somewhat biased or prejudiced a bit by the EMTs
showing up. I know that.” 10 RR 6. Plaintiffs’ counsel also acknowledged that witnessing Mr.
Bostic’s collapse had a prejudicial impact on the jury: “All you have to do is acknowledge that what
happened in the hallway was upsetting. . . . I don’t think [the instruction to disregard is] going to
be up played because the jury knows the man was taken away by EMTs. That’s an upsetting event.”
See 10 RR22-23, 21.
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TEx. CONST. art. I, § 15. Improper comments by a trial court are therefore unconstitutional

and cannot be cured by instruction. See Am. Express Co. v. Chandler, 231 S.W. 1085, 1087-

88 (Tex. Comm’n App. 1921, holding approved). “If a court may comment upon the weight

of the evidence and thereafter withdraw such comment, the very purpose of the law may be

circumvented, and the statute and Constitution rendered of no force and effect. . . .“ Id.

Judge Montgomery’s conduct “was clearly an interference with the right of a litigant

to have the jury pass on issues of fact without being influenced by prejudicial statements

made by the judge in their presence or hearing.” Hargrove, 276 S.W.2d at 428. Her remarks,

particularly in view of Plaintiffs’ mental anguish claims, were “clearly in violation of the rule

against the trial court commenting on the weight of the testimony, and [were] reversible

error.” Commercial Standard Ins. Co. v. Billings, 114 S.W.2d 709, 712 (Tex. Civ. App.—

Amarillo 1938, writ dism’d w.o.j.). Thus, the only cure for Judge Montgomery’s improper

comment on the weight of the evidence was a new trial. See Pillot, 105 S.W.2d at 871.

B. Georgia-Pacific Was Denied Its Constitutional Right to Cross-Examine
Mr. Bostic and the Trial Court’s Instruction to Disregard Hours of His
Live Testimony Did Not Cure the Error.

The sequence of events at the second trial—Mr. Bostic’s emotional direct testimony;

his collapse immediately thereafter in full view of the jury; Judge Montgomery’s improper

comment that his collapse was the result of “the stress of his testimony”; Mr. Bostic’s death;

the revelation to the jury from an outside source that Mr. Bostic had died; the lapse of a week

between Mr. Bostic’s testimony and collapse and Judge Montgomery’s instruction to the jury

to disregard Mr. Bostic’s live testimony; and, finally, the reading of Mr. Bostic’s emotional
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testimony from the first trial, which differed in several material respects from his testimony

in the second trial and included the statement that he “just wanted to die” because of his

son’s death—denied Georgia-Pacific its constitutional right to cross-examine Mr. Bostic.

1. Georgia-Pacific was denied its fundamental due-process right to
cross-examine Mr. Bostic.

The right to effective cross-examination is a fundamental due-process right, protected

by both the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section

19 of the Texas Constitution. See U.S. CONsT. amend. XIV, § 1; TEx. C0NST. art. I, § 19;

Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 260 (1970); Davidson v. Great Nat’! Life Ins. Co., 737

S.W.2d 312, 314 (Tex. 1987). Thus, this Court must review a denial of the right to cross-

examination with the utmost scrutiny. Nat’l FamilyLife Ins. Co. v. Fletcher, 57 S.W.3d 662,

666 (Tex. App.—Beaumont 2001, pet. denied). In this case, Georgia-Pacific was denied its

due process rights because it was unable to cross-examine Mr. Bostic regarding his live

testimony at the second trial, which differed materially from his testimony in the first trial.

In both trials, Harold Bostic’s testimony was offered in support of the survival action

of Timothy Bostic’s estate and the wrongful death claims brought by himself and other

family members. Harold provided the only testimony on the alleged nature, duration, and

proximity of Timothy’s exposure to Georgia-Pacific’s chrysotile-containing joint compound,

12 RR 34-39, 78-143, and Timothy’s exposure to asbestos from Harold’s work clothes and

Timothy’s own work at the Knox Glass Plant. 12 RR 40, 67-76. Harold’s live testimony in

the second trial conflicted with his original testimony regarding several key areas such as the
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formulation of Georgia-Pacific joint compound that he used (dry mix or pre-mixed, which

affects the probability that they used an chrysotile-free formula since the dry mix was sold

in the chrysotile-free formula earlier than the pre-mixed formula), compare 9 RR 130-3 1 (dry

mix only) with 12 RR 36 (pre-mixed); and the age at which Timothy Bostic allegedly used

or was exposed to Georgia-Pacific joint compounds for the first time, compare 9 RR 123-24

(10 to 12 years old in the first trial) with 12 RR 83, 116-17 (4 or 5 years old in the second

trial). Georgia-Pacific was never able to address these changes in Mr. Bostic’s testimony

because it was deprived of its right to cross-examine Mr. Bostic on these critical issues.

2. The instruction to disregard Mr. Bostic’s live testimony did not
cure the error.

A week after Mr. Bostic testified, Judge Montgomery instructed the jury to disregard

his live testimony from the second trial in favor of a reading of his testimony from a

transcript of the first trial. But even without all the other improper events that occurred, the

emotional nature of Mr. Bostic’s live testimony on critical liability and damages issues (and

his subsequent collapse) was so highly prejudicial to Georgia-Pacific that his testimony could

not be withdrawn from the minds of the jurors by simple instruction or cured by Judge

Montgomery’s instruction to disregard the testimony. See Bruton v. Un ited States, 391 U.s.

123, 137 (1968) (“Despite the concededly clear instructions to the jury to disregard Evans’

inadmissible hearsay evidence inculpating petitioner, in the context ofajoint trial we cannot

accept limiting instructions as an adequate substitute for petitioner’s constitutional right of

cross-examination. The effect is the same as if there had been no instruction at all.”). His
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live testimony was not the type of stray remark or single hearsay statement that can easily be

corrected by instruction. The reading of his prior testimony aggravated the situation when

the jury—after all that had happened and with all that it knew—heard his statement from the

first trial that he “prayed to God to die” because of his son’s death. 12 RR 58. The prejudice

to Georgia-Pacific resulting from its inability to cross-examine Mr. Bostic was incurable and

warranted a new trial; the trial court’s failure to so order was an abuse of discretion.

C. The Prejudice to Georgia-Pacific Was Further Compounded When the
Jury Learned of Harold Bostic’s Death from an Outside Source Before
the Jury Deliberated and Delivered Its Verdict.

Juror misconduct occurs whenever “any outside influence [is] improperly brought to

bear upon any juror.” TEX. R. CIV. P. 327b. To be entitled to a new trial for jury misconduct,

a party must establish (1) the misconduct occurred, (2) it was material, and (3) it probably

caused injury. SeeTEX. R. Civ. P.327(a); Golden EagleArchery, Inc. v. Jackson, 24 S.W.3d

362, 372 (Tex. 2000); Rosell v. Cent. W. Motor Stages, Inc., 89 S.W.3d 643, 660-61 (Tex.

App.—Dallas 2002, pet. denied). A new trial was mandated in this case because the juror

misconduct was proven, the misconduct was material, and from the record as a whole, it is

evident that injury resulted to Georgia-Pacific. See Golden Eagle Archery, 24 S .W.3 d at 372.

When trial resumed the week after Mr. Bostic’s collapse, one of the jurors, Courtney

Jackson, the EMT who provided assistance to Mr. Bostic, contacted one of his co-workers

at the hospital and learned that Mr. Bostic died after his collapse. 16 RR 123-24, 130-33,

137-40. Jackson then informed other jurors that Mr. Bostic had died. Id. The transmission

of this information from the outside source was made before the jurors retired to deliberate
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and consider the evidence, including Mr. Bostic’s testimony from the first trial that he

“prayed to God to die” because of his son’s death. 12 RR 58. Jackson’s injection of this

information for thejury’s consideration constitutes an “outside influence”—which is defined

by the Texas Supreme Court as something that “originates from sources other than the jurors

themselves”—and amounts to jury misconduct. Golden Eagle Archery, 24 S.W.3d at 370.

The second requirement for a new trial based on jury misconduct is evidence that the

misconduct was material. TEX. R. Civ. P. 327(a). The materiality of the jury misconduct in

this case is obvious. For example, Plaintiffs asserted claims for mental anguish, which were

unavoidably bolstered when the jurors learned of Mr. Bostic ‘s death. One juror even testified

that he felt sympathy for the Bostic family (i.e., Plaintiffs) because of Mr. Bostic ‘s death and

believed the family “was going through more” as a result. 16 RR 130-33.

This materiality is also evidenced by the great lengths to which the trial court went to

keep the jury from learning that Mr. Bostic had died and to finish the trial.2’ To achieve this

goal, Judge Montgomery conducted the remainder of trial in a way that prejudiced Georgia-

Pacific: (1) Georgia-Pacific was not permitted to question the jurors regarding Mr. Bostic’s

collapse until after deliberations, 10 RR 12-13; (2) the trial court refused to rule on Georgia-

Pacific’s motion for mistrial until after the jury returned its verdict, 10 RR 18-19 (“You will

not get a ruling if it’s going to jeopardize this trial.”); (3) Judge Montgomery originally

intended to keep Harold Bostic’s claims on the verdict form to avoid tipping off the jury that

21 Judg Mpntgomery believe4 the jurors were unaware of Mr. Bostic’s death because she
witnessed Mr.l3ostic ‘s collapse alongside thejury, so that she knew “what they know” and that “they
do not know they saw [Mr. Bostic’s] last hour of consciousness.” 10 RR 11, 10-22.
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he died, 10 RR 14, 19-20; (4) the trial court refused to dismiss juror Jackson—the EMT who

provided aid to Bostic following his collapse and spread the outside information regarding

Mr. Bostic ‘ s death to the otherjurors—until immediately before the jury began deliberations,

10 RR 18; and (5) Judge Montgomery initially resisted Georgia-Pacific’s attempts to present

its motion for mistrial or to make a record of the events surrounding Mr. Bostic’s collapse

because a lengthy delay on the first day of trial after Mr. Bostic’s death might arouse the

jury’s suspicions that something was seriously wrong with Mr. Bostic. 10 RR 16, 18-19, 24-

27. If knowledge of Mr. Bostic’s death had not been material, Judge Montgomery need not

have engaged in this elaborate ruse.

The third and final requirement for a new trial based on jury misconduct is closely

related to the materiality requirement and demands a showing that the misconduct “probably

caused injury.” See TEX. R. Civ. P. 327a. “To show probable injury, there must be some

indication in the record that the. . . misconduct most likely caused a juror to vote differently

than he would otherwise have done on one or more issues vital to the judgment.” Rose!!, 89

S.W.3d at 661. Ironically, testimony from jurors regarding what effect the misconduct may

have had on their decisions is not allowed under Texas law. See TEX. R. Civ. P. 327(b); TEX.

R. EvID. 606(b). The existence of “probable injury” is a question of law for the Court. See

Pharo v. Chambers County, 922 S.W.2d 945, 950 (Tex. 1996).

The following facts are some indication that the injection of the information regarding

Mr. Bostic ‘s death from outside sources into the jury deliberation process likely caused jurors

to vote differently than they would otherwise have done had they been unaware of his death:
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(a) Judge Montgomery’s comment to the jury that Mr. Bostic’s collapse
was caused by the stress of his testimony, 9 RR 162, was indelibly
linked to his subsequent death in the minds of the jury. As Mr. Bostic’s
testimony was highly emotional and centered around the illness and
death of his son from alleged exposure to Georgia-Pacific products and
the resulting mental anguish to Plaintiffs, the conclusion that his death
should be laid at Georgia-Pacific’s door could have been made by the
jurors. At least one juror expressly acknowledged her belief in the link
between Mr. Bostic’s testimony and his collapse. 16 RR 135.

(b) Even before Mr. Bostic’s death, Judge Montgomery acknowledged the
prejudicial impact Mr. Bostic’s death would have on Georgia-Pacific’s
defense in the case. 9 RR 170-71.

(c) Judge Montgomery instructed the jury to disregard Mr. Bostic’s prior
direct testimony because he was “not available to be cross-examined by
the Defendant.” 12 RR 12-13. The jury misconduct resulted in the jury
knowing that his death was the reason Mr. Bostic was unavailable. The
jury then heard Mr. Bostic’s testimony a second time when it was read
into the record from the first trial, thereby improperly emphasizing the
only testimony on product identification and exposure. 12 RR 12-144.
In fact, Judge Montgomery herself noted that Mr. Bostic’s testimony
from the first trial was equally emotional and agreed that the witness
was “as emotional as you’ll ever see a witness” in both trials. 10 RR 9.
This testimony included his statements that he “prayed to God to die”
and that he “just wanted to die.” 12 RR 58. The prejudicial impact of
this testimony in light of his actual death immediately thereafter is
patently obvious and probably caused at least one juror to answer the
verdict differently than he otherwise would have done.

These facts clearly provide “some indication” that the juror misconduct most likely led one

or more jurors to conclude that Mr. Bostic’s death was the result of his testimony regarding

his distress over the death of his son, which Plaintiffs allege was caused by Georgia-Pacific.

The prejudicial impact of the juror misconduct on Georgia-Pacific is evidenced most

clearly by a comparison of the damages awarded in the first and second trials. In the first

trial, the jury awarded Plaintiffs approximately $3.1 million in compensatory damages and
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$6.2 million in punitive damages. CR 110-20. The first trial was closer to Timothy’s death,

Plaintiff Susan Bostic had not yet remarried, and Plaintiff Kyle Bostic was still a minor. The

first jury awarded damages to four wrongful death plaintiffs; given Mr. Bostic’s death, the

second jury only awarded damages to three wrongful death plaintiffs. Nevertheless, the jury

in the second trial awarded Plaintiffs approximately $7.5 million in compensatory damages

and $6 million in punitive damages. See CR 198-217. The compensatory damages—which

include mental anguish damages—more than doubled in the second trial even though the

damages evidence presented in the second trial was less compelling. The only explanation

for the exponentially higher damage awards is that the jury in the second trial was influenced

by their sympathy for the Bostic family (i.e., Plaintiffs) in the wake of Mr. Bostic’s death.

Given the obvious injury to Georgia-Pacific resulting from the juror misconduct, the trial

court was obligated to grant a new trial. See TEX. R. CIV. P. 327(a); Golden Eagle Archery,

24 S.W.3d at 372. Its failure to do so was an abuse of discretion that should be corrected.

D. The Bailiff and the Trial Court Compounded the Prejudice to Georgia-
Pacific by Violating the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure Regarding
Communications with the Jury.

Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 283 prohibits the officer in charge of the jury, i.e., the

bailiff, from making any communication to the jury “except to inquire if they have agreed

upon a verdict, unless by order of the court.” TEX. R. CIV. P. 283. Thus, Rule 283 prohibits

a bailiff from discussing the particulars of the case with the jury. Likewise, Rule 283

prohibits a bailiff from instructing the jury regarding evidence to be considered as part of its

deliberations. SeeLogan v. Grady,482 S.W.2d 313, 322 (Tex. Civ. App.—Fort Worth 1972,
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no writ). The bailiff’s conduct in this case clearly violated Rule 283.

On the very day that Judge Montgomery instructed the jury to disregard Mr. Bostic’s

live testimony and his testimony from the first trial was read to the jury, the jury questioned

the bailiff regarding Mr. Bostic’s condition and juror Courtney Jackson specifically asked

him why Plaintiffs’ counsel had been wearing black for several days (following Mr. Bostic’s

death). 16 RR 155-60, 162; 17 RR 20-21. Without informing Judge Montgomery, the bailiff

instructed the jury that he “could not tell them the condition or how Mr. Bostic was doing”

but that “they were not to consider anything that happened in this hail, that they were to

consider only the stuff that happened in the courtroom.” 16 RR 156. The bailiff then

approached Plaintiffs’ counsel, advised her of the juror’s questions regarding her clothing,

and instructed her to wear a different color. 16 RR 157-59. The bailiff did not tell Georgia-

Pacific about the jury’s questions or of his communications with Plaintiffs’ counsel.

To determine whether these violations of Rule 283 entitled Georgia-Pacific to a new

trial, Georgia-Pacific is required to establish that (1) the misconduct occurred, (2) it was

material, and (3) it probably caused injury. See TEX. R. Civ. P. 327(a); Pharo, 922 S.W.2d

at 950 (noting that Rule 327(a) applies to the misconduct of “the officer in charge” ofjurors).

The misconduct of the bailiff was admitted and is undisputed; its materiality—given that Mr.

Bostic was a Plaintiff asserting claims for mental anguish—cannot be questioned. And this

misconduct—whether considered alone or in conjunction with the juror misconduct—was

prejudicial. It not only prevented Georgia-Pacific from timely discovering information

material to its motions for mistrial, but also stripped the trial court of another chance to
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remove juror Courtney Jackson before he contacted outside sources to check on Mr. Bostic’s

condition and shared that information with his fellow jurors. As a result, the bailiff interfered

with the course and outcome of this case, and a new trial is the only remedy.

In addition, Judge Montgomery violated Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 285:

The jury may communicate with the court by making their wish known to the
officer in charge, who shall inform the court, and they may then in open court,
and through their presiding juror, communicate with the court, either verbally
or in writing.

TEx. R. CIV. P. 285. Rule 285 contemplates communications made “in open court”—i.e.,

before counsel for both parties. When Judge Montgomery learned of the jury’s questions to

the bailiff and the bailiff’s instructions to the jury and Plaintiffs’ counsel, rather than disclose

those facts to counsel for both parties in open court, she instructed her bailiff and staff not

to inform Georgia-Pacific’s counsel of the communications until she deemed it “relevant.”

17 RR 20-21, 34-35. The court’s failure to address the juror’s questions in open court or

attempt to remedy the bailiffs misconduct in open court violated Rule 283 and was itself

misconduct.

E. The Second Trial Was Not Fairly Conducted.

In the face of this juror and bailiff misconduct, Judge Montgomery nevertheless

resolved to conclude this trial at any cost—including that ofher own impartiality. On the day

Mr. Bostic collapsed, Judge Montgomery gave the parties a clear baseline for a mistrial—if

Mr. Bostic’s medical condition was serious and he was not able to return to court—and then

disregarded her own guidelines when Mr. Bostic died. 9 RR 170-72. Similarly, she stated
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that she would ensure that the jury did not learn of Mr. Bostic’s death before they deliberated

and would not permit the parties to do anything that might “tip off” the jury to his death. 10

RR12. And yet Judge Montgomery again disregarded this standard when she learned what

the jury had asked the bailiff about Plaintiffs’ counsel’s conduct and the bailiff’s misconduct.

17 RR 20-2 1, 34-35. Instead of acknowledging that the bailiff had committed misconduct

and correcting the error, Judge Montgomery simply pressed ahead despite the indication from

the jurors’ questions that the jury was still thinking about the events in the hallway and quite

possibly knew that Mr. Bostic was dead. Even when Judge Montgomery informed Georgia-

Pacific of the jurors’ questions, she failed to mention the bailiff’s statements to Plaintiffs’

counsel regarding the jury’s concerns. 17 RR 28-29. When asked if she had instructed her

staff not to tell Georgia-Pacific about the jury inquiries and the bailiff’s misconduct, Judge

Montgomery was untruthful with Georgia-Pacific’s counsel, 17 RR 3 1-32, and when the

court reporter disputed the completeness and accuracy ofher statements, Judge Montgomery

fired the court reporter. 17 RR at 36-37. Obviously, as this trial spiraled out of control, the

trial court deprived Georgia-Pacific of a “just, fair, equitable and impartial adjudication of

[its] rights under established principles of substantive law.” TEX. R. Civ. P. 1.

PRAYER

For these reasons, Appellant Georgia-Pacific Corporation respectfully requests that

this Court reverse the trial court’s judgment and renderjudgment that Appellees take nothing.

Alternatively, Appellant requests that this Court grant a new trial to Appellant. Appellant

additionally prays for any further relief at law or in equity to which he may be justly entitled.
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